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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION 

Petitioner O'Neal Payne, III, asks this Court to grant review 

of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in State v. Payne, No. 

56637-1-II, filed April 23, 2024 (attached as an appendix). 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Just four days before trial, the trial court allowed Mr. 

Payne's attorney to withdraw, because counsel did not want to 

proceed to trial with an unvaccinated client. The court then 

interpreted Mr. Payne's expression of frustration as a request to 

proceed pro se. 

At a hearing the next day to consider Mr. Payne's supposed 

request for self-representation, Mr. Payne appeared over Zoom in 

a different location than his newly appointed attorney. The court 

set no ground rules for how Mr. Payne could privately and 

continuously confer with his attorney during that hearing. Mr. 

Payne repeatedly explained he wanted to proceed to trial as 

scheduled, but also wanted the help of counsel. The court made 
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no finding that Mr. Payne's request for self-representation was 

unequivocal, but nevertheless concluded he knowingly and 

voluntarily waived his right to counsel. 

Predictably, Mr. Payne was convicted after representing 

himself at trial. 

1. Is this Court's review warranted to address whether 

physical separation of a defendant and his attorney at a critical 

stage, without any ground rules set for how they can privately 

confer during the hearing, is manifest constitutional error in 

violation of the defendant's constitutional right to confer with 

counsel, which the prosecution must demonstrate is harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt? 

2. Is this Court's review also warranted to determine 

whether the trial court erred in allowing Mr. Payne's appointed 

attorney to withdraw for "other good cause" under RPC l .  l 6(b )(7) 

on the eve of trial because counsel did not want to proceed to trial 

with an unvaccinated client, leaving Mr. Payne to either represent 

himself or have prepared counsel? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The prosecution charged Mr. Payne on March 16, 2021 

with one count of commercial sex abuse of a minor and one count 

of fourth degree assault with sexual motivation. CP 5, 32. The 

prosecution alleged Mr. Payne got into a vehicle with 17-year­

old B.K. and 18-year-old B.A., uninvited, and offered the girls 

money in exchange for sex. CP 4. The prosecution also alleged 

Mr. Payne caressed B.A. 's cheek as he exited the vehicle. CP 4. 

Throughout the pretrial process, Mr. Payne asserted his 

right to a speedy trial, objecting to continuances requested by the 

prosecution and his attorneys. lRP 19, 35, 48, 59, 66-67, 74. 

But, due to several factors, including a competency evaluation, 

trial preparation, and withdrawal of Mr. Payne's first appointed 

counsel, Mr. Payne's trial was continued for several months. 

lRP 18-19, 3 1, 43-44, 57, 65, 70. 

Mr. Payne's second attorney, Louis Byrd, was appointed 

on June 24, 2021. CP 136. In late October of 2021, Mr. Byrd 

requested a trial continuance due to an outbreak of COVID-19 at 
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the jail, where Mr. Payne was incarcerated pending trial. lRP 

76-77, 84-88. Apparently six inmates in a different pod than Mr. 

Payne tested positive and were immediately isolated. l RP 96. 

Mr. Byrd stated he was not willing to proceed to trial unless Mr. 

Payne was vaccinated. l RP 93, 99. Mr. Payne confirmed he was 

not vaccinated. l RP 101. Mr. Byrd explained he "was always 

going to raise this issue as far as trial." l RP 89. 

The trial court wondered, "So, how does that connect with 

your client's constitutional right to be going to trial in a speedy­

trial period[?]" l RP 91. Mr. Byrd indicated he might be willing 

to proceed if the jail tested Mr. Payne for COVID-19 daily during 

trial. l RP 100, 105. Mr. Payne objected to any continuance, 

indicating he was ready to go to trial. lRP 101. 

Ultimately, the prosecution needed continuances due to 

witness unavailability, so the trial court reset Mr. Payne's trial 

date to December 13, 2022. l RP 110-11, 121; CP 137. Mr. 

Payne again objected. 1 RP 115, 121. 
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On December 6, 2021, Mr. Byrd filed a written motion to 

withdraw as counsel. CP 138-39. Mr. Byrd averred there was 

"good cause to withdraw as counsel" because he was "not willing 

to risk his health or life by trying a case in which Counsel is 

required to sit next to an unvaccinated client for 8 hours a day 

while trying the case." CP 138-39. Mr. Byrd stated he would 

forgo withdrawal if Mr. Payne tested negative for COVID-19 

prior to and during trial. CP 138-39. 

The trial court held a hearing on Thursday, December 9, 

just four days before trial, on Monday, December 13, to consider 

counsel's motion to withdraw. l RP 126-27. The court explained 

the jail was unable to perform rapid tests for inmates during trial. 

l RP 27. Mr. Byrd reiterated his request to withdraw. lRP 128. 

The court granted the request, finding counsel had "a conflict 

between your personal interest, your health in this particular 

matter, and the defendant's interest in terms of being 

represented." lRP 128. 
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Mr. Payne expressed confusion about what was 

happening, stating he "didn't necessarily get it" and "[i]t sounded 

like a mixup." l RP 128. He indicated, however, "if he is 

withdrawing, I'm going to stick to my gun, and I'm ready to go 

Monday. No ands, ifs, or buts about it, with or without him." 

l RP 128. The court clarified whether Mr. Payne just said, "you 

want to go to trial on Monday, with or without Mr. Byrd." lRP 

129. Mr. Payne responded, "Yeah. I would prefer it to be with 

him. But if he doesn't want to present my case on my behalf, 

then it's basically out of my -- I was sitting in jail (outside 

interference) who knows how long, for no reason. Because I 

have been ready to go since day one." l RP 129. 

The trial court informed Mr. Payne he had a right to 

represent himself. lRP 129. Mr. Payne did not make an 

affirmative response. lRP 129. The court set the matter over for 

a hearing the next day, indicating, "Mr. Payne is apparently 

making a request to represent himself." l RP 132. Mr. Payne 

tried to talk to Mr. Byrd, noting he had not been exposed to 
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CO VID-1 9 and would wear a mask during trial if needed. 1 RP 

131. When Mr. Byrd told Mr. Payne that he no longer 

represented him, Mr. Payne responded, 'TH call you later and 

then we'll discuss it." lRP 133. Mr. Payne reiterated, "You are 

my attorney. So are you ready to proceed or not?'' lRP 133. 

The parties reconvened the next day, Friday, December 

10. 2RP 9. Megan Peyton appeared as Mr. Payne's newly 

appointed counsel. 2RP 3, 9. The hearing was conducted by 

Zoom video conference, with Ms. Peyton and Mr. Payne 

appearing from different locations. CP 143; Parties' Stipulation 

to Record on Appeal. Ms. Peyton indicated she had received the 

appointment late the previous day and had not yet spoken to Mr. 

Payne. 2RP 9. At 9:06 a.m., the trial court allowed Ms. Peyton 

and Mr. Payne to talk privately in a Zoom breakout room. 2RP 

9-10; Parties' Stipulation to Record on Appeal. 

The hearing reconvened at 9:16 a.m. CP 143; Parties' 

Stipulation to Record on Appeal. Ms. Peyton explained, "Mr. 

Payne's main concern is getting this trial done, so he wants to go 
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on Monday." 2RP 10. She continued, "I explained our options 

as standby counsel and he is more interested on that." 2RP 10. 

She did not tell the court that Mr. Payne unequivocally wanted 

to represent himself. 2RP 10-11. 

The trial court then inquired of Mr. Payne how he wanted 

to proceed. 2RP 11. Mr. Payne explained he wanted counsel to 

help him collect evidence. 2RP 11. The court told Mr. Payne 

that his attorney would need a continuance, to which Mr. Payne 

responded, "Well, I will -- if that's the case, I -- like I said, I will 

love her forward to [sic], you know, help me in this case." 2RP 

12. Mr. Payne proceeded to discuss how the alleged victims told 

lies about him in discovery. 2RP 12-13. Mr. Payne reiterated he 

needed help collecting evidence, so "I would assign somebody 

as my counsel." 2RP 14. "But," he stated, "as far as someone 

stepping into the fray and saying that they want to push me back 

for another 60 days or something like that, I'm not going to - I'm 

not going to stand for that. I'm just ready to go on Monday." 

2RP 14. 
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Despite no written or oral motion made by Mr. Payne to 

represent himself, the trial court proceeded to conduct a colloquy 

with Mr. Payne about waiving his right to counsel. 2RP 15-25. 

Mr. Payne indicated he had not studied law or previously 

represented himself. 2RP 16. When informed of the charges and 

maximum penalty for each charge, Mr. Payne responded, "It 

doesn't matter." 2RP 16-17. When asked if he understood he 

would be expected to comply with the rules of evidence and 

criminal procedure, Mr. Payne gave an answer the court 

characterized as "entirely wrong." 2RP 18. For instance, Mr. 

Payne stated he knew a polygraph test was admissible and he 

could ask for it to be admitted in opening statement. 2RP 18. 

The court tried to clarify the rules, but Mr. Payne answered only, 

"Okay," regarding the rules of evidence, and "[i]t's understood," 

regarding the rules of criminal procedure. lRP 19-20. 

The trial court asked Mr. Payne why he wanted to 

represent himself, to which Mr. Payne answered, "Your Honor, 

the only reason I don't want an attorney -- well, I -- I'm not 
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saying that I don't want an attorney. The thing is, that I've been 

here for nine months. I never -- I've never waived by 60-day 

speedy trial rights." 2RP 21. Mr. Payne proceeded to detail the 

conflict with his first attorney as well as the sudden withdrawal 

of his second attorney. 2RP 21-22. At the end of the colloquy, 

Mr. Payne stated for the first time, "I would like to present my 

case myself," but then reiterated his frustration with Mr. Byrd's 

last-minute withdrawal. 2RP 24-25. 

The trial court did not make a finding as to whether Mr. 

Payne made an unequivocal request to proceed pro se. 2RP 15-

25. But the court found Mr. Payne's waiver of counsel to be 

knowing and voluntary, and permitted Mr. Payne to represent 

himself at trial. 2RP 25-26. Only after doing so did the court 

explain it was likely too late for Mr. Payne to obtain evidence in 

time for trial on Monday. 2RP 27-29. 

Trial began as scheduled on Monday, December 13, 2021. 

2RP 40. Mr. Payne again expressed frustration that his lawyer 

resigned "within a day or two notice," leaving him "to present all 
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this evidence myself and then standing before the jury." 2RP 66. 

Mr. Payne reiterated he wanted evidence from his Facebook 

account, as well as video footage from his booking into jail, to 

undercut the prosecution's case. 2RP 55, 69, 76-78. The court 

stated it was too late for Mr. Payne to gather evidence if he 

wanted to proceed to trial that day. 2RP 76, 80-81, 83-84. 

B.K. and B.A. both testified at trial that they were sitting 

in B.K.'s car at the Vancouver Mall when Mr. Payne approached 

them and got in the back seat, uninvited. 2RP 229-30, 253-254. 

B.K. was 17 years old and B.A. was 18 years old at the time. 

2RP 229, 252. Both girls claimed Mr. Payne showed them a wad 

of cash and asked if they wanted to come back to his hotel room 

to have sex. 2RP 237-38, 257-58. They testified they repeatedly 

told Mr. Payne no. 2RP 242, 256. Both girls claimed Mr. Payne 

caressed B.A. 's cheek as he got out of the car, telling her, "You 

know where to find me." 2RP 243, 256. Mr. Payne did not cross­

examine either B.K. or B.A. 2RP 250, 265. 
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Officer Trent Harris testified he responded to a 911 call at 

the Vancouver Mall, where he spoke with both girls. 2RP 274-

75. He assisted in arresting Mr. Payne at a nearby hotel, where 

Mr. Payne was found with a large amount of cash. 2RP 283. Mr. 

Payne briefly cross-examined Officer Harris, eliciting testimony 

that the girls never said Mr. Payne told them his hotel room 

number. 2RP 287-92. 

After the prosecution rested, Mr. Payne indicated he 

thought B.K. and B.A. "would come back to the stand and would 

be questioned again by [the prosecutor] and I." 2RP 296. The 

court explained the prosecution would not be calling any more 

witnesses and the girls were no longer under subpoena, "so 

they're not available to you." 2RP 296. Mr. Payne responded, 

"we could just move forward," explaining he had no other 

evidence to present. 2RP 294, 296. 

Mr. Payne gave only a brief closing argument, stating, 

"hopefully, I presented enough evidence to prove my 
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innocence." 2RP 335. Ultimately, he concluded, "I guess we'll 

just get on with it and let the rest handle itself." 2RP 335. 

The jury found Mr. Payne guilty as charged. CP 57-59. 

Following the verdicts, Mr. Payne stated he needed to file 

a motion for a mistrial. 2RP 364-65. He explained he thought 

he would have a chance to question the girls again, but also that 

he did not want to "shameface" them. 2RP 365. Mr. Payne 

lamented he "might not even get the opportunity to even present" 

his evidence, because 'Tm in a situation to where both of my 

lawyers waited until the last minute." 2RP 368. 

At sentencing, Mr. Payne moved for a new trial, reiterating 

he was forced to represent himself because his attorney quit just 

days before trial. 2RP 382, 396. The trial court denied the motion 

as untimely. 2RP 283. The court sentenced Mr. Payne to 34 

months in prison, along with 36 months of community custody. 

CP 78-81. The court of appeals affirmed Mr. Payne's convictions, 

but remanded for the trial court to correct multiple errors in Mr. 

Payne's judgment and sentence. Opinion, 26. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. The violation of Mr. Payne's constitutional right 

to confer privately with counsel during his Faretta 

hearing warrants this Court's discretionary 

review. 

Criminal defendants' appearance by video from jail, 

physically separated from their attorneys, for critical stage 

hearings has proliferated since the COVID-19 pandemic. All three 

divisions of the court of appeals have been grappling with whether 

such a procedure, with no ground rules set for how defendants and 

their attorneys can privately confer during such hearings, is 

manifest constitutional error that violates defendants' right to 

confer with counsel. Where a conflict exists among the divisions, 

this Court's definitive guidance on this significant constitutional 

question is necessary. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), (4). 

Our federal and state constitutions guarantee criminal 

defendants the right to assistance of counsel at all critical stages of 

the litigation. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; WASH. CONST. art. 1, § 22; 

State v. Reddrick, 166 Wn.2d 898, 909, 215 P.3d 201 (2009). 
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"The constitutional right to counsel demands more than just access 

to a warm body with a bar card." State v. Anderson, 19 Wn. App. 

2d 556,562,497 P.3d 880 (2021 ). Among other things, it requires 

the "opportunity for private and continual discussions between 

defendant and his attorney" at all critical stages. State v. Hartzog. 

96 Wn.2d 383, 402, 635 P.2d 694 (1981). "The ability for 

attorneys and clients to consult privately need not be seamless, but 

it must be meaningful." Anderson, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 562. 

In Anderson, Division Three held that denial of the right to 

confer is manifest constitutional error, reviewable for the first time 

on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3). There, Anderson attended his 

resentencing hearing by video, while his attorney appeared 

telephonically. 19 Wn. App. 2d at 559. The resentencing court 

"never set any ground rules for how Mr. Anderson and his attorney 

could confidentially communicate during the hearing." Id. at 563. 

"Nor were Mr. Anderson and his attorney physically located in the 

same room, where they might have been able to at least engage in 

nonverbal communication." Id. Indeed, given that they appeared 
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from different locations, it was "not apparent how private attorney­

client communication could have taken place during the remote 

hearing." Id. The court of appeals found it "unrealistic to expect 

Mr. Anderson to assume he had permission to interrupt the judge 

and court proceedings ifhe wished to speak with his attorney." Id. 

Division Three held the combination of these factors violated 

Anderson's right to confer privately with his attorney. Id. 

Division One subsequently reached the same conclusion in 

State v. Bragg. 28 Wn. App. 2d 497,536 P.3d 1176 (2023). There, 

the record established Bragg appeared by Webex video from jail 

while his attorney appeared in court for every nontrial hearing, 

including several critical stage hearings. Id. at 502-03. The Bragg 

court likewise held the alleged error was "manifest," because it 

was "identifiable on the record before the court." 28 Wn. App. 2d 

at 504 n.5. Also like in Anderson, the Bragg court found a 

violation of the right to confer where the trial court did not to set 

any ground rules for how Bragg could exercise his right to confer 

privately with counsel. Id. at 509. The court of appeals also found 
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it unreasonable, or at least unrealistic, to place the burden on Bragg 

to assert his right to confer. Id. at 511. The court emphasized one 

hearing where Bragg asked how he could talk to his counsel and 

the trial court told him to "be quiet." Id. 

Mr. Payne also appeared by video, in a different location 

and physically separated from his attorney, at his Faretta1 hearing. 

2RP 9; Parties' Stipulation to Appellate Record; CP 143. Like 

Anderson and Bragg. the trial court never put on the record 

whether private communication between Mr. Payne and his 

attorney was possible during the hearing. See 2RP 9-35. Nor did 

the court specify any ground rules for how Mr. Payne could 

confidentially communicate with his attorney during the hearing. 

See 2RP 9-35. Nonverbal communication was also impossible 

because Mr. Payne and his attorney were in different locations. It 

1 Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 852, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. 
Ed. 2d 562 (1975). 
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is not apparent how private attorney-client communication could 

have even taken place during the hearing. 

Following Bragg. however, Division Two concluded in 

State v. Dimas, _Wn. App. 2d_, 544 P.3d 597, 602 (2024), that 

Dimas failed to carry his burden of showing any violation of the 

right to confer was manifest. The Dimas court acknowledged 

Anderson and Bragg. but reasoned the former "did not address in 

any detail why the error was manifest" and the latter "also did not 

address manifest error." Dimas, 544 P.3d at 601; but see Bragg. 

28 Wn. App. 2d at 504 n.5. Division Two went on to hold any 

error was not manifest because "[t]he record does not indicate that 

the trial court would have made a different decision or that the 

verdict would have been different if Dimas had been given the 

opportunity to speak privately with defense counsel during the 

various hearings." Dimas, 544 P.3d at 602. The Dimas court 

denied a motion for reconsideration on May 17, 2024. 

In sum, there is a conflict among the divisions of the court 

of appeals. The divisions disagree as to whether violation of the 
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right to confer is manifest error, where the record establishes the 

defendant was physically separated from his attorney at a critical 

stage, with no ground rules set for how they might privately confer 

during the hearing. Division Two in Dimas also appears to have 

turned the manifest error standard on its head-not looking to 

whether the error was identifiable on the record, but whether 

Dimas had established harm from the error. This Court has not yet 

weighed in on this developing issue, and only this Court can 

resolve division splits. See In re Pers. Restraint of Arnold, 190 

Wn. 2d 136, 150, 4 10 P.3d 1133 (2018). The conflict described 

above indicates it is time for this Court to offer its definitive 

guidance on this significant constitutional issue. 

The court of appeals in Mr. Payne's case ultimately dodged 

the threshold questions, "assuming, without deciding, that Payne 

has met his burden to show a manifest constitutional error," and 

holding "his argument fails because any error was harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt." Opinion, 12. The court reasoned 

"[t]he record is clear that Payne was resolute in his decision to 
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proceed to trial the following business day, Monday, even if that 

meant proceeding self-represented." Opinion, 13. The court 

likewise believed the record indicated Mr. Payne "understood his 

choices, and made a knowing and voluntary choice to waive 

counsel and proceed self-represented that Monday." Opinion, 13. 

Finally, the court concluded, "the evidence of Payne's guilt at trial 

was overwhelming." Opinion, 13. 

Mr. Payne disagrees with the court of appeals' analysis on 

harmless error. There could hardly be a more significant hearing 

than a Faretta colloquy, at which the trial court tries to determine 

whether the defendant is voluntarily waiving his right to counsel. 

The record is not as forgiving as the court of appeals would have 

it. While Mr. Payne expressed the desire to proceed to trial, he 

also indicated he wanted help from counsel. For instance, he stated 

he would love for Ms. Peyton "to help me in this case." 2RP 12. 

He likewise stated, "I'm not saying that I don't want an attorney," 

just that "I've been here for nine months." 2RP 21. Mr. Payne did 

not appear to understand the rules of evidence and criminal 
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procedure would apply to him at trial. 2RP 18-19. When informed 

of the maximum punishment for the charged offenses, he 

responded, "It doesn't matter." 2RP 17. He repeatedly expressed 

frustration at his two prior attorneys' withdrawals, rather than 

focusing on the questions at hand. 2RP 23-25. 

It is impossible to guess how the opportunity for private 

consultation might have affected Mr. Payne's understanding of the 

matter, as well as his ultimate decision to waive counsel and 

proceed to trial pro se, not to mention what defense his attorney 

might have presented at trial. In Bragg. for instance, the critical 

stage hearings included a plea offer review hearing, a hearing on 

Bragg's request to discharge counsel, and hearings discussing 

Bragg's apparent misunderstanding of damaging DNA evidence. 

28 Wn. App. 2d at 512. The court concluded it was reasonably 

possible Bragg would have benefited from private conversation 

with his counsel during these hearings. Id. at 515. The prosecution 

therefore failed to carry its burden, necessitating reversal of 

Bragg's convictions. Id. at 515-16. 
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The court of appeals' conclusion in Mr. Payne's case is too 

speculative to withstand scrutiny. See State v. Irby. 170 Wn.2d 

874, 886, 246 P.3d 796 (2011) (refusing to speculate on the 

prosecution's behalf where the defendant was denied his 

constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of the 

litigation). For this additional reason, review is warranted. 

2. The court of appeals' conclusion that an 

appointed attorney may withdraw on the eve of 

trial because he does not want to go to trial with 

an unvaccinated client also warrants review. 

The court of appeals also rejected Mr. Payne's argument on 

appeal that it was error for the trial court to allow his counsel to 

withdraw on the eve of trial because Mr. Payne was unvaccinated. 

Opinion, 9-10; Br. of Appellant, 16-25; Reply Br., 1-9. The court 

of appeals reasoned "RPC 1.16(b )(7) permits a lawyer to withdraw 

from representing a client if good cause for withdrawal exists." 

The court emphasized Mr. Payne's counsel "expressed that he 

would not go to trial with an unvaccinated client whose infection 

status was unknown given counsel's concerns for his own health 
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and safety." "The court of appeals therefore concluded "the trial 

court's decision that counsel's concerns constituted good and 

sufficient reasons for withdrawal was not an abuse of discretion." 

Opinion, 10. 

RPC l . l 6(b )(7) provides an attorney "may" withdraw from 

representation if "other good cause for withdrawal exists." 

CrR 3 . 1  ( e) similarly provides, "Whenever a criminal cause has 

been set for trial, no lawyer shall be allowed to withdraw from said 

cause, except upon written consent of the court, for good and 

sufficient reason shown." 

Defense counsel stated no particular vulnerability to 

COVID-19, like being elderly or immunocompromised, which 

could have been submitted under seal to the trial court. CP 138-

39. Nor was there any indication Mr. Payne had COVID-19 or had 

been exposed to it. 1 RP 131. Defense counsel's general, 

unspecified concern about COVID-19 does not establish "other 

good cause" under RPC l .  l 6(b )(7). 
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The RPCs do not define "good cause" in this context. But 

the case law does. When counsel is appointed to represent an 

indigent criminal defendant, "good cause" means "a conflict of 

interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in 

communication between the attorney and the defendant." State v. 

Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 734, 940 P.2d 1239 ( 1997). In other 

words, withdrawal is permitted "only when counsel and defendant 

are so at odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense." 

Id. "Simple lack of rapport between attorney and client is not a 

basis for withdrawal of counsel, even where client and attorney 

agree withdrawal is preferred." State v. Hegge, 53 Wn. App. 345, 

350, 766 P.2d 1127 (1989). 

Thus, "good cause" in RPC 1.16(b )(7) is not a freewheeling 

catchall in these circumstances.2 No breakdown in communication 

2 See also Ausler v. Ramsey, 73 Wn. App. 23 1,236 n.4, 868 P.2d 
877 ( 1994) ("Courts have found 'good cause' where the attorney 
knows that the client's claim is fraudulent, the attorney has 

professional objections to the client's retention of additional 
counsel, the client is uncooperative, the attorney and client suffer 
a 'breakdown' in communication, the client degrades the 
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was alleged here. While counsel's relationship with Mr. Payne 

might have been strained due to Mr. Payne's vaccination status, 

the record makes plain they were still communicating. See, e.g., 

lRP 130 (Mr. Payne to counsel on December 9, "You talked to me 

yesterday, and you said that you were ready to go."). Nor did any 

actual conflict of interest exist. RPC l.7(a)(2). Under the case 

law, then, good cause for withdrawal did not exist. 

Moreover, the court of appeals failed to address the fact that 

RPC l.16(b)(7) is permissive; it does not mandate an attorney's 

withdrawal when "other good cause" exists. See Robbins v. 

Legacy Health Sys., Inc., 177 Wn. App. 299, 3 11, 3 11 P .3d 96 

(2013). RPC l.16(c) specifies, "[w]hen ordered to do so by a 

tribunal, a lawyer shall continue representation notwithstanding 

good cause for terminating the representation." See also State v. 

attorney ( usually by claiming the attorney was dishonest), the 
client refuses to pay justified attorney fees and costs or ethical 
rules require the attorney to withdraw." ( citing Annot., 

Circumstances Under Which Attorney Retains Right to 
Compensation Notwithstanding Voluntary Withdrawal from 
Case, 88 A.L.R.3d 246, 255-56 ( 1993)). 
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Berrysmith, 87 Wn. App. 268, 278, 944 P.2d 397 ( 1997) ("CrR 

3 .1  ( e) provides that after a criminal case has been set for trial, an 

attorney shall not be allowed to withdraw except for good and 

sufficient reasons."). The comment to RPC 1.16(b) further states 

"[t]he lawyer has the option to withdraw if it can be accomplished 

without material adverse effect on the client 's interests." 

(Emphasis added.) 

Washington courts recognize the trial court should deny an 

attorney's request for permissive withdrawal made on the eve of 

trial, even in civil cases where counsel is retained and so "either 

side's desire to quit it should be given great weight." Kingdom v. 

Jackson, 78 Wn. App. 154, 160, 896 P.2d 101 (1995). For 

instance, the Kingdom court cited Atlantic Petroleum Corp. v. 

Jackson Oil Co., 572 A.2d 469, 472 (D.C. 1990), which held the 

trial court abused its discretion in allowing counsel to withdraw on 

the morning of trial, where counsel was ready to try the case and 

the client had no other lawyer. Kingdom, 78 Wn. App. at 161. 

Significant here, the Atlantic Petroleum Corp. court noted counsel 
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also "failed to demonstrate a fundamental change in the 

relationship with the client." 572 A.2d at 4 72. Likewise, on 

October 29, Mr. Payne's counsel expressed his unwillingness to 

go to trial with an unvaccinated client, so the basis for his 

withdrawal on December 9 was not new. lRP 99. 

Similarly, in Cohen, counsel withdrew less than a month 

before trial, and his client could not find another attorney to take 

his case after paying counsel some of his legal fees. In re 

Disciplinary Proc. Against Cohen, 150 Wn.2d 744, 757, 82 P.3d 

224 (2004). In upholding the resulting disciplinary sanctions, this 

Court observed that counsel's last-minute withdrawal had a 

material adverse financial effect on his client and "effectively 

denied him his day in court." Id. 

The reasoning of these cases applies with even more force 

m a criminal case where the defendant's liberty is at stake. 

Counsel's last-minute withdrawal on Thursday before trial on 

Monday undoubtedly had a material adverse effect on Mr. Payne's 

interests. Counsel stated his trial readiness on December 9 and, 
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therefore, he could have proceeded to trial on December 13. lRP 

127. Good cause notwithstanding, the trial court could have and 

should have ordered counsel to continue representing Mr. Payne. 

But counsel's withdrawal forced Mr. Payne to decide between 

going to trial as scheduled on December 13 and being represented 

by prepared counsel. "A defendant forced to choose between 

incompetent or unprepared counsel and appearing pro se faces 'a 

dilemma of constitutional magnitude."' United States v. Padilla, 

819 F.2d 952, 955 (10th Cir. 1987) (quoting Maynard v. 

Meachum, 545 F.2d 273, 278 (1st Cir. 1976)). Given the 

constitutional ramifications of the court of appeals' decision, this 

Court's review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 
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E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should grant 

review and reverse the court of appeals. 

DATED this 22nd day of May, 2024. 

I certify this document contains 4,974 words, excluding 

those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 

Respectfully submitted, 

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 

MARY T. SWIFT, WSBA No. 45668 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

CHE, J. - O'Neal Payne III appeals his convictions and sentence for commercial sex 

abuse of a minor and fourth degree assault with sexual motivation. Payne also filed a motion to 

vacate the judgment and dismiss his charges, which was transferred to us as a personal restraint 

petition and consolidated with this appeal . 

In a mall parking lot, Payne approached two females, a 1 7-year-old and an 1 8-year-old, 

entered their car, and offered them money to have sex with him at his hotel room. During the 

pendency of his case, Payne had two defense counsel withdraw, and Payne experienced a series 

of continuances that delayed his trial from May until December. Ultimately, Payne proceeded to 

trial self-represented where he was found guilty as charged. 

Payne argues that ( 1 )  the trial court erred by allowing his second defense counsel to 

withdraw days before trial based on Payne ' s  unvaccinated status and the ongoing COVID- 1 9  

pandemic, (2) the trial court violated his constitutional right to privately confer with his attorney 

by allowing Payne to appear by video, in a different location than his attorney, at a hearing 
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where the court determined Payne waived his right to counsel, (3) the trial court erred by finding 

that he made an unequivocal, knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of his right to counsel, 

( 4) the trial court erred by entering a sexual assault protection order (SAPO) protecting BA, who 

was not a victim of a sex offense, and by entering an invalid expiration date for the SAPO 

protecting BK, and (5) the trial court made several errors regarding community custody 

conditions in the judgment and sentence. Payne's personal restraint petition also raised multiple 

grounds. 

We hold that (1) the trial court did not err by allowing Payne's second counsel to 

withdraw, (2) even if the trial court violated Payne's right to access counsel, that error was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and (3) Payne's waiver of his right to counsel was 

unequivocal, knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Therefore we affirm Payne's convictions. But 

we also hold that the trial court made multiple errors in Payne 's judgment and sentence and 

remand for correction in accordance with this opinion. Finally, we hold that Payne fails to show 

that he is entitled to collateral relief and dismiss his personal restraint petition. 

FACTS 

In March 202 1,  BK and BA, who were 17 and 18 years old, respectively, were in BK's 

car in the Vancouver mall parking lot when they were approached by Payne. The girls could not 

hear what Payne was saying to them from outside of the car. Payne, uninvited, got into BK's car. 

Once inside, Payne asked the girls to go to his hotel room and have sex with him. The girls told 

him "no" and to "get out." Rep. of Proc. (RP) (Dec. 13, 202 1) at 238. Payne claimed to be a 

well-known pimp in Minnesota and pulled out a wad of hundred dollar bills, saying he would 

2 
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pay them to have sex. Eventually, Payne got frustrated and exited the car. As he left the car, he 

caressed BA's cheek, telling her "you know where to find me." RP (Dec. 13, 202 1) at 243. 

After Payne walked away from their car, BK and BA drove to the other side of the mall 

and found a security guard. The security guard called law enforcement. Police ultimately arrested 

Payne at the hotel where he had told BK and BA he was staying. 

The State charged Payne with commercial sex abuse of a minor-a felony, involving 

17-year-old BK, and fourth degree assault with sexual motivation involving 1 8-year old BA-a 

misdemeanor. Trial was originally set for May 17. On May 1 1, Payne's defense counsel moved 

for a continuance, which the trial court granted over Payne's objection. The trial court re-set trial 

for June 28. 

On June 24, Payne's defense counsel moved for substitution of counsel based on an 

alleged breakdown of communication between Payne and himself. New counsel was appointed 

and trial was reset for August 2. After a series of continuances from both defense counsel and the 

State, trial was set for November 1 .  On October 29, defense counsel requested to postpone trial 

due to a COVID- 19 outbreak in the jail where Payne was housed. Defense counsel also argued 

that he was entitled to information as to whether Payne was vaccinated or not, and he would not 

be comfortable going to trial with an unvaccinated client. Payne, defense counsel, and the trial 

court agreed to set trial over one day to allow time to test Payne for COVID-19 and to continue 

testing him during trial. 

Due to the unavailability of material witnesses, the trial was continued twice more until 

December 13. On December 9, defense counsel moved to withdraw from the case. He explained 

that he was "not willing to risk his health or life" by sitting next to Payne during trial who was 

3 
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unvaccinated for COVID- 19. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 138. Counsel stated he would withdraw his 

motion if Payne tested negative for COVID- 19 prior to and during trial. CP at 138. The trial 

court explained that the jail could not accommodate that request and granted counsel's motion to 

withdraw. 

Payne expressed, as he had at nearly every previous hearing, his disagreement with 

continuances and his desire to move forward with trial as soon as possible. He told the trial court, 

"ifhe is withdrawing, I'm going to stick to my gun, and I'm ready to go Monday. No ands, ifs, 

or buts about it, with or without him." RP (Dec. 9, 2021) at 128. The trial court appointed a new 

defense counsel and set a hearing for the following day to address Payne 's request to represent 

himself. 

The next day, a Friday, Payne told the trial court that he did not get the phone number or 

name of new counsel. Newly appointed counsel informed the court that she and Payne had not 

spoken, and the court took a break for them to do so. Counsel told the court: 

I think Mr. Payne's main concern is getting this trial done, so he wants to go on 
Monday. I can't say (inaudible) need a new trial date. I explained our options as 

standby counsel and he is more interested [i]n that. Once again, it's a little tough 
for me. I'm-to tell the Court, you know, I mean, I guess we can find someone for 
standby counsel on Monday. How-we just know nothing about the case. We just 

got the information late yesterday. 

He did mention some things (inaudible) and I explained to him that it's 

Friday. Trial starts Monday. So I think, you know, my suggestion was, why don't 
we do the last trial set, get a review date. If you want to go pro se after, you know, 
we can do that. He was very adamant about going on Monday, so I told him I would 

tell the Court. 

RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 10- 1 1 .  

4 
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The trial court asked Payne how he would like to proceed, and Payne responded that he 

wanted newly appointed counsel to obtain and admit "a few video feeds" and his cell phone into 

evidence. RP (Dec. 10, 202 1) at 1 1-12 .  The trial court attempted to clarify its question for Payne, 

explaining that newly appointed counsel would need a continuance to become familiar with the 

case and obtain the evidence Payne wanted. Payne responded: 

I will love her forward to, you know, help me in this case. She doesn't have to really 

do anything except for, you know, obtain the video and admit my phone into 
evidence. I can prove everything else myself. But if she sits beside me in the case, 
like, I would want her, you know, like put the win on her record. 

RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 12- 13 .  Payne proceeded to highlight the ways he believed the State's 

witnesses were lying, stating, 'Tm the only one telling the truth but, you know, they're 

continuing to hold onto lies, which is going to make the judicial system look bad, not me. So I'm 

ready to go on Monday." RP (Dec. 10, 202 1) at 13 .  

Newly appointed counsel added that she tried to explain to Payne that it would be easier 

for her to obtain some of the evidence that he sought and she could always move to standby 

counsel at a later date if he wanted to proceed pro se. Payne responded: 

Yeah, because I won't be able to obtain these things . . . .  so I'm going to 
need [new counsel] or somebody to assist me with that . . . .  

You know, I would assign somebody as my counsel. But as far as someone 
stepping into the fray and saying that they want to push me back for another 60 

days or something like that, I'm not going to . . .  stand for that. I'm just ready to go 
on Monday. I have all the questions written down. I have all the proof to prove that 
I'm innocent or not guilty, whichever way you want to go with that. And I'm ready 

to present it right now if I can or on Monday. I'll go through trial. I'll do a judge 
trial or, you know, whatever. However I need to prove my innocence, I'm willing 
to do that with or without anyone. I stand on that. 

RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 14- 15 .  

5 
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The trial court noted that trial was set for the next business day, Monday, and that new 

counsel would need a continuance to be prepared. The trial court anticipated that trial would not 

be until early January. Payne rejected the idea of a continuance until early January, saying "Well, 

I will refuse. I will refuse. I am ready to go on Monday." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 15 .  

The trial court proceeded to question Payne to ensure that he made an informed choice to 

waive his right to counsel. Payne stated that he had never studied law or represented himself or 

anyone else in a criminal action. When the trial court explained the maximum sentence he faced 

ifhe were found guilty of the charges against him, Payne said "It doesn't matter." RP (Dec. 10, 

202 1) at 17. The trial court asked Payne if he was familiar with the rules of evidence. Payne 

responded 

The only thing I know that I would have to admit evidence . . .  beforehand. 
I really have no evidence to provide except for the video footage that's already been 
provided. There are a couple more things that I might be able to ask to be admitted 

into the case as far as maybe a polygraph test. I now it's admissible. What else? But 
during rea-not readiness, I can't think of the word, what is it? . . . openmg 

statements, I can ask all these things to be admitted into . . .  evidence. 

RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 18. The trial court commented, "Okay, so let me just kind of stop you 

there. That's entirely wrong, okay?" RP (Dec. 10, 202 1) at 18. 

When the trial court asked Payne to explain why he did not want an attorney, Payne 

responded, "Your Honor, the only reason I don't want an attorney-well, I-I'm not saying that 

I don't want an attorney. The thing is, that I've been here for nine months. I never-I've never 

waived [m]y 60-day speedy trial rights." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 2 1 .  Payne then complained at 

length about his first two appointed counsel. The trial court told Payne, "in my opinion, it would 

be far better for you to be defended by a trained lawyer than you representing yourself. It's 

6 
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unwise of you to try to represent yourself. It's clear to me that you're unfamiliar with the law . . .  

court procedure . . .  [or] the Rules of Evidence. I would strongly urge you not to represent 

yourself." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 23. Payne responded, "I understand . . .  I am not going to allow 

anyone to continuously to push me back when I have things on the outside that I need to attend 

to." RP (Dec. 10, 202 1) at 23. Payne explained that he wanted to proceed because he was ready 

for trial and because of considerations related to his music career. 

When the trial court asked Payne if, in light of the penalties that he would face if found 

guilty, he still wanted to represent himself and give up his right to be represented by an attorney, 

Payne said "Yes, I would like to present my case myself. . . .  I've been in this situation like this 

before . . .  [my attorney] took it to trial. . . .  I went to trial in August [2020]." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) 

at 24-25. After Payne confirmed that his decision to represent himself was entirely voluntary, the 

trial court found that he knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. 

At trial, Payne expressed his desire to obtain evidence from his Facebook account and 

video footage from his booking. The trial court reiterated that it was too late for him to gather 

evidence without moving to continue trial. The trial court appointed standby counsel to answer 

Payne's questions on procedures during trial. 

The State admitted surveillance video from the mall parking lot showing Payne 

approaching BK's vehicle, getting inside for four to five minutes, and then walking away toward 

a hotel. BA and BK testified at trial, but Payne did not cross-examine either of them. 

Officer Trent Harris testified that he responded to the mall where he spoke with BK and 

BA and ultimately assisted with arresting Payne. Payne briefly cross-examined Officer Harris, 

eliciting testimony that the girls never told him that Payne gave them his hotel room number. 

7 
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After the State rested its case, Payne declined to testify himself and told the court "I 

guess we '11 just continue forward with the next two-with the two alleged victims." RP (Dec. 14, 

202 1) at 294. The trial court explained that BK and BA were the State 's witnesses and they had 

completed their testimony. Payne informed the court that he thought BK and BA would be 

returning to the stand to be questioned again. The trial court explained to him that was not the 

case. Payne responded, "we could just move forward" and told the court he had no other 

evidence to present. RP (Dec. 14, 2021) at 294-96. Payne gave a very brief closing argument, 

stating in part, "hopefully, I presented enough evidence to prove my innocence . . . .  I guess we '11 

just get on with it and let the rest handle itself." RP (Dec. 14, 2021) at 335. 

The jury found Payne guilty as charged. Following the verdict, Payne told the trial court 

that he would be filing a motion for a mistrial. He explained that he thought he would have a 

chance to question BK and BA again. He complained that he "might not even get the opportunity 

to even present" his evidence because 'Tm in a situation to where both of my lawyers waited 

until the last minute. They pushed me out and they excluded evidence from me." RP (Dec. 14, 

202 1) at 368. He continued, "I have to stand here and fend for myself with limited information 

and evidence and knowledge of the law." RP (Dec. 14, 2021) at 369. Payne also moved for a 

new trial at his sentencing hearing, reiterating that he was forced to represent himself because his 

attorney quit days before trial. The trial court denied Payne's motion. 

The trial court imposed a sentence at the high end of the standard range. The trial court 

found Payne indigent pursuant to RCW 10 . 101 .0 10(3)(a)-(c) on the felony judgment and 

sentence but checked the box on his misdemeanor judgment and sentence that Payne was not 

indigent. The trial court ordered Payne to have no contact with BK and BA for 10 years. The trial 
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court ordered Payne to undergo an evaluation for treatment for mental health. The trial court also 

ordered Payne to pay legal financial obligations including a $500 victim penalty assessment 

(VPA) and $100 DNA collection fee. The judgment and sentences included language ordering 

Payne to pay supervision and collection fees. 

Payne appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. WITHDRAWAL OF DEFENSE COUNSEL 

Payne argues that the trial court erroneously forced him to choose between his right to 

counsel and his right to speedy trial by allowing Payne's counsel to withdraw days before trial. 

Specifically, Payne argues that the trial court erred by finding that Payne's counsel had a conflict 

of interest based on his refusal to proceed to trial with a client who had not received the COVID-

19 vaccine. We disagree. 

We review a trial court's ruling on an attorney's motion to withdraw for abuse of 

discretion. State v. Hegge, 53 Wn. App. 345, 350, 766 P.2d 1 127 (1989); see also State v. Stark, 

48 Wn. App. 245, 252-53, 738 P.2d 684 (1987). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases 

its decision on untenable grounds or reasons. State v. Nguyen, 1 3 1  Wn. App. 815 , 819, 129 P.3d 

821 (2006). CrR 3. 1( e) permits a lawyer to withdraw from a criminal case set for trial only upon 

consent of the court for "good and sufficient reason shown." A conflict of interest is a recognized 

basis under CrR 3 . 1 (  e) for a finding of good cause to allow counsel to withdraw. See State v. 

Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 734, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997); State v. McDonald, 96 Wn. App. 3 1 1, 320, 

979 P.2d 857 (1999). 

9 
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To support his argument, Payne focuses on RPC 1 .7(a), which identifies certain conflicts 

of interest that require a lawyer to withdraw from representation. Payne contends that his 

counsel ' s  conflict of interest did not fall within the type of conflicts contemplated by RPC 

1 .7(a)(2), thus the trial court erred by permitting counsel to withdraw. But Payne provides no 

authority requiring a specific showing of a conflict of interest as identified in RPC 1 .7(a)(2) 

before a trial court allows an attorney to withdraw. The proper inquiry is whether "good and 

sufficient reason" for withdrawal exists ; "good and sufficient reason" is not limited to conflicts 

identified in RPC 1 .7(a)(2) . 

Notably, RPC 1 . 1 6(b )(7) permits a lawyer to withdraw from representing a client if good 

cause for withdrawal exists. Here, the trial court found that good cause supported defense 

counsel ' s  withdrawal . In the height of the Omicron surge of the COVID- 1 9  pandemic, many 

State agencies and employers were requiring vaccination and significant safety precautions were 

implemented. Risk mitigation effectiveness and the long-term effects of COVID- 1 9  infection 

remained largely unknown. Counsel expressed that he would not go to trial with an unvaccinated 

client whose infection status was unknown given counsel ' s  concerns for his own health and 

safety. Under these circumstances, the trial court' s decision that counsel ' s  concerns constituted 

good and sufficient reasons for withdrawal was not an abuse of discretion. 1 

1 To the extent Payne suggests that the trial court' s decision to allow counsel' s withdrawal 
implicated his speedy trial rights, Payne fails to sufficiently develop this argument. He does not 
establish that either his time-for-trial right under CrR 3 .3 or his constitutional speedy trial right 
under article I of the Washington Constitution and the Sixth Amendment of the United States 
Constitution were violated. 
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IL RIGHT TO CONFER WITH COUNSEL 

Payne argues that reversal is required because the trial court violated his constitutional 

right to privately confer with his attorney by allowing Payne to appear by video, in a different 

location than his attorney, at the hearing where the court determined Payne waived his right to 

counsel. We disagree. 

Both the United States Constitution and the Washington Constitution guarantee criminal 

defendants the right to the assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; WASH. CONST. art 1 ,  § 

22; State v. Reddrick, 166 Wn.2d 898, 909- 10, 2 1 5  P.3d 201 (2009). The constitutional right to 

counsel requires that defendants be able to confer privately with their attorneys at all critical 

stages of the proceedings. State v. Anderson, 19 Wn. App. 2d 556, 562, 497 P.3d 880 (2021), 

review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1004 (2022). "The ability for attorneys and clients to consult privately 

need not be seamless, but it must be meaningful." Id. The inquiry into whether there was a 

violation of a defendant's  constitutional right to privately confer with counsel is fact-specific. 

See State v. Gonzales- Morales, 138 Wn.2d 374, 979 P.2d 826 (1999); Anderson, 19 Wn. App. 2d 

556. 

The "deprivation of the right to counsel is a fundamental constitutional claim that can be 

raised for the first time on appeal, so long as the claim is manifest, as required by RAP 

2.5(a)(3)." Anderson, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 562. As explained above, '"manifest' in RAP 2.5(a)(3) 

requires a showing of actual prejudice." Kirkman, 1 59 Wn.2d 9 18, 935, 155  P.3d 125 (2007). 

"[T]he focus of the actual prejudice must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that 

the error warrants appellate review." 0 'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91 ,  99-100, 217  P.3d 756 (2009). 
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Deprivation of counsel in a criminal case constitutes structural error. In re Pers. Restraint 

of Khan, 1 84 Wn.2d 679, 691, 363 P.3d 577 (2015). In contrast, interference with right to 

counsel (by, for example, not providing defendant a forum to confer privately with his attorney) 

is subject to a constitutional harmless error analysis. See RAP 2.5(a)(3); Anderson, 19 Wn. App. 

2d at 562; 0 'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100. 

Payne implies that the alleged deprivation of counsel, here, constituted structural error 

that requires automatic reversal because it "pervaded and contaminated his entire case." Br. of 

Appellant 37. We disagree. In State v. Bragg, 28 Wn. App. 2d 497, 536 P.3d 1 176 (2023), Bragg 

argued that the trial court violated his constitutional right to confer with his counsel by requiring 

him to participate in all nontribal hearings via video conferencing while his attorney appeared in 

court. Bragg argued that the court committed structural error necessitating automatic reversal. Id. 

at 5 1 1 . Division One of this court disagreed. We agree with Division One that "[t]he applicable 

test for prejudice is the constitutional harmless error analysis." Bragg, 28 Wn. App. 2d at 504. 

Under the constitutional harmless error analysis, we presume prejudice and the State bears the 

burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. A constitutional error is 

nonetheless harmless if the error would not have changed the outcome of the proceeding. Id. at 

5 12. 

Here, even assuming, without deciding, that Payne has met his burden to show a manifest 

constitutional error, his argument fails because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Payne contends that "it is impossible to guess how the opportunity for private consultation 

might have affected [his] understanding of [the hearing], as well as his ultimate decision to waive 

counsel and proceed to trial pro se." Br. of Appellant 39. We disagree. 

12 
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The record is clear that Payne was resolute in his decision to proceed to trial the 

following business day, Monday, even if that meant proceeding self-represented. After Payne's 

new counsel told the court that she had explained to Payne it would be easier for her to get the 

evidence he sought as his counsel, but that she would need a continuance, Payne emphasized his 

commitment to proceeding to trial: "But as far as someone stepping into the fray and saying that 

they want to push me back for another 60 days or something like that, I'm not going to . . .  stand 

for that. I'm just ready to go on Monday." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 14. The Payne rejected the idea 

of a continuance until early January, saying "Well, I will refuse. I will refuse. I am ready to go 

on Monday." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 15 .  

The trial court engaged in a lengthy exchange with Payne and his newly appointed 

counsel, repeatedly attempting to explain that to proceed to trial that Monday, Payne would be 

representing himself and what that entailed. The record is clear that Payne had communicated 

privately with his new attorney prior to the court's colloquy, understood his choices, and made a 

knowing and voluntary choice to waive counsel and proceed self-represented that Monday. On 

this record, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that any error in limiting Payne's access to 

counsel during this hearing would not have changed the outcome of the hearing and was 

therefore harmless. 

Moreover, the evidence of Payne's guilt at trial was overwhelming. We are convinced 

beyond a reasonable doubt that even if Payne had unfettered access to his counsel during the 

hearing on his motion to proceed self-represented, and even if, as a result, he had opted to 

continue the trial and later proceed with trial counsel, the ultimate outcome of trial would not be 

different. Both victims testified to the events underlying the crimes, and video footage clearly 
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showed Payne entering the girls' vehicle, remaining inside for four to five minutes, and then 

walking away toward a hotel. Accordingly, any error violating Payne's right to access counsel in 

that hearing was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Ill. WAIVER OF RIGHT TO COUNSEL 

Payne argues that the trial court erred by finding that he made an unequivocal, knowing, 

intelligent, and voluntary waiver of his right to counsel. We disagree. 

1 .  Legal Principles 

Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to assistance of counsel. A 

criminal defendant also has a right to self-representation under the same provisions. State v. 

Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010). The right of self-representation is "so 

fundamental that it is afforded despite its potentially detrimental impact on both the defendant 

and the administration of justice." Id. 

However, a tension exists between the rights of self-representation and to counsel. State 

v. Howard, 1 Wn. App. 2d 420, 424, 405 P.3d 1039 (2017). By requesting to represent himself, a 

defendant waives his right to counsel. Id. at 425. Therefore, criminal defendants do not have an 

absolute right to self-representation. Id. A trial court may allow a defendant to represent himself 

only if the defendant waives his right to counsel voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Id. 

And a criminal defendant has a right to self-representation only if the right to counsel is properly 

waived. Id. 

The trial court must indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of the right to 

counsel before granting a defendant's request to proceed self-represented. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 
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504. Courts must engage in a two-step determination. First, the court must determine whether the 

request for self-representation is timely and unequivocal. State v. Curry, 191  Wn.2d 475, 486, 

423 P.3d 179 (2018). The defendant's demand to proceed self-represented must be unequivocal 

in the context of the record as a whole. State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 441, 149 P.3d 446 

(2006). Second, if the request is timely and unequivocal, the court must then determine whether 

the request is also voluntary, knowing, and intelligent. Id. And the trial court may deny a request 

for self-representation if the request is "made without a general understanding of the 

consequences." Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 505. Once a defendant makes an unequivocal request to 

proceed self-represented, the trial court must determine whether the defendant's waiver of the 

right to counsel is valid, "preferably through a colloquy on the record assuring that the defendant 

understands the risks of self-representation." State v. Vermillion, 1 12  Wn. App. 844, 85 1 ,  5 1  

P.3d 188 (2002). 

"We review a trial court's decision to grant or deny a defendant's request to proceed pro 

se for abuse of discretion." Curry, 191 Wn.2d at 483. A trial court abuses its discretion if its 

decision is manifestly unreasonable or rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by 

applying the wrong legal standard. Id. The trial court sits in a favorable position compared to that 

of an appellate court in that trial judges have far more experience considering requests to proceed 

self-represented and are better equipped to balance the competing considerations. Id. at 484-85. 

"Additionally, trial courts have the benefit of observing the behavior and characteristics of the 

defendant, the inflections and language used to make the request, and the circumstances and 

context in which it was made." Id. at 485. The defendant has the burden to show that his waiver 

of the right to counsel was not knowing and intelligent. Howard, 1 Wn. App.2d at 426. 
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2. The Request Was Unequivocal 

Payne contends that his request to proceed pro se was an equivocal reflection of his 

frustration with the delays for trial as opposed to an actual desire to represent himself. "When a 

defendant's request to proceed pro se is actually an expression of frustration with a trial 's delay, 

rather than a true desire to proceed without an attorney, the request is equivocal." Modica, 136 

Wn. App. at 442. However, that a defendant is motivated by something other than a singular 

desire to conduct his own defense does not necessarily render a request equivocal. Id. ; see also 

State v. DeWeese, 1 17  Wn.2d 369, 378-79, 816  P.2d 1 (1991) (holding that defendant's request 

to proceed self-represented was unequivocal, despite being motivated by frustration with 

attorney's performance). 

Here, Payne made the strategic choice to assert his right to self-representation in order to 

proceed to trial more quickly than waiting for newly appointed counsel to prepare. When the trial 

court informed Payne that trial would not happen before early January with appointed counsel, 

he clearly stated "Well, I will refuse. I will refuse. I am ready to go on Monday. " RP (Dec. 10, 

202 1) at 15 .  After going over the maximum penalties for each crime charged and many other 

things, the trial court asked Payne if, in light of the penalties that he would face if found guilty, 

he still wanted to represent himself and give up his right to be represented by an attorney, Payne 

said "Yes, I would like to present my case [by] myself." RP (Dec. 10, 2021) at 24. While the 

record reflects Payne's frustration with his new counsel's request for continuance to prepare, the 

record also reflects, after the court's lengthy colloquy, Payne's strategic decision to represent 

himself and proceed to trial before January. Regardless of his underlying motivation for doing 

so, Payne's request was clear and unequivocal when reviewing the record as a whole. 
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3 .  The Request Was Knowing and Voluntary 

Payne also contends that his request was not knowing and voluntary. The record does not 

support Payne ' s  argument. The trial court engaged in a lengthy colloquy with Payne that went 

beyond a routine inquiry and was sufficient to determine the validity of Payne ' s  waiver of the 

right to assistance of counsel . State v. Lillard, 1 22 Wn. App. 422, 427-30, 93 P .3d 969 (2004) . 

The trial court informed Payne of the seriousness of and maximum penalties associated with the 

charges levied against him, as well as the technical procedural rules applicable to a criminal jury 

trial . The court also asked Payne several questions to ascertain his legal knowledge, and alerted 

him to the difficulty of proceeding self-represented. 

Furthermore, the trial court repeatedly advised Payne not to proceed self-represented, 

saying "it would be far better for you to be defended by a trained lawyer," " [i]t' s unwise of you 

to try to represent yourself," and "I would strongly urge you to not represent yourself." RP (Dec. 

1 0, 202 1 )  at 23 . Payne told the trial court he understood "the consequences of . . .  my actions" 

and "if l lose, I lose ." RP (Dec. 1 0, 202 1 )  at 3 3 .  The court then asked Payne, " [I]n light of the 

penalties that you might suffer if you are found guilty and in light of all the difficulties 

representing yourself, is it still your desire to represent yourself and to give up your right to be 

represented by an attorney?" and "is the decision to waive an attorney to represent yourself, is 

that entirely voluntary on your part?" RP (Dec. 1 0, 202 1 )  at 24-25 .  Payne responded in the 

affirmative to both questions . The court' s colloquy was sufficient for it to ascertain that Payne ' s  

waiver was made knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. Accordingly, we hold that the trial 

court did not abuse its discretion by granting Payne ' s  request to proceed to trial self-represented. 
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A. B.A. 

IV. SEXUAL ASSAULT PROTECTION ORDERS 

Payne argues that the trial court exceeded its authority by entering a sexual assault 

protection order (SAPO) protecting BA, who was not the victim of a sex offense. The State 

concedes, and we agree .  

Under RCW 9A.44.2 1 0,2 the trial court has the authority to impose a SAPO for certain 

enumerated sex offenses. Fourth degree assault with sexual motivation is not one of the 

enumerated offenses .  RCW 9A.44 .2 1 0 . Accordingly, the trial court did not have the authority to 

impose a SAPO protecting BA who was the victim of fourth degree assault with sexual 

motivation, but not of commercial sex abuse of a minor. As a result, the trial court must strike 

the SAPO protecting BA upon remand. This holding does not preclude the trial court from 

considering a lawful no contact order protecting BA. 

B .  Expiration Dates 

Payne also argues that the expiration date for BK' s SAPO exceeds the maximum 

allowable term and must be amended. The State concedes, and we accept the State ' s  concession. 

"A trial court may only impose a statutorily authorized sentence. "  State v. Paulson, 1 3 1  

Wn. App. 579, 588 ,  1 28 P .3d 1 3 3  (2006). If a trial court "exceeds its sentencing authority" under 

the statute, "its actions are void." Id. We review de novo whether an individual ' s  sentence 

exceeds statutory authority. State v. Button, 1 84 Wn. App. 442, 446, 3 39  P .3d 1 82 (20 1 4) .  We 

2 Former RCW 7.90 . 1 50(6)(c) was recodified as RCW 9A.44.2 1 0(6)(c) in 202 1-the only 
difference is the previously mentioned change in terminology from "sexual assault protection 
order" to "sexual assault no-contact order." 
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also review de novo whether the length of a SAPO was correctly calculated. State v. Navarro, 

1 88 Wn. App. 550 ,  553 ,  3 54 P .3d 22 (20 1 5) .  

A final SAPO "entered in conjunction with a criminal prosecution shall remain in effect 

for a period of two years following the expiration of any sentence of imprisonment and 

subsequent period of community supervision, conditional release, probation, or parole ." RCW 

9A.44.2 1 0(6)(c) . As this court has previously explained, the statute ' s  "plain language directs that 

protection orders entered in conjunction with a criminal prosecution will remain in effect for two 

years following any sentence the court actually imposes in that proceeding."  Navarro, 1 88 Wn. 

App. at 555 .  Accordingly, "all sexual assault protection orders entered against a defendant in one 

criminal prosecution expire two years after the expiration of the longest sentence. "  Id. at 552 .  

Here, Payne was sentenced to 34 months in prison and 36  months of community custody, 

for a total of 70 months. He is entitled to approximately 1 0  months of credit for time served in 

pretrial detention. Although his precise release date is unknown, and the SAPOs will not expire 

for another two years after his release, that date will likely be earlier than the current 1 0-year 

expiration of the SAPOs. Accordingly, we hold that on remand, the trial court must strike the 1 0-

year expiration date and adjust the language for the expiration date of the SAPO.3 

3 Because an offender' s  actual release date is unknown at the time of sentencing, a SAPO 
"should not provide a fixed expiration date ." Navarro, 1 88 Wn. App. at 556 .  Instead, a 
"preferable approach is simply to track the language of the statute by stating, for example, that 
the order ' shall remain in effect for a period of two years following the expiration' of the longest 
sentence served by the offender as a result of the prosecution. RCW 7.90 . 1 50(6)(c) ." Id. 
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A. Mental Health Examination 

V. SENTENCING TERMS 

Payne argues that the trial court erroneously ordered him to participate in mental health 

evaluation and treatment without finding that he has a mental illness. The State agrees that the 

trial court did not make the proper findings regarding its order to complete a mental health 

evaluation and to comply with treatment. Payne contends that the proper remedy for this error is 

to strike the mental health evaluation conditions from his judgment and sentence. The State 

responds that the case should be remanded with instructions to the trial court to consider the 

issue and make the appropriate findings. We agree that the trial court failed to make the requisite 

findings and agree with the State that upon remand the trial court should determine whether to 

order a mental health evaluation. 

Whether a trial court has statutory authority to impose a community custody condition is 

reviewed de novo. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, l lO, 1 56 P.3d 201 (2007). Ifa court 

does have authority, the imposition of community custody conditions is reviewed for abuse of 

discretion. State v. Johnson, 1 84 Wn. App. 777, 779, 340 P.3d 230 (2014). A decision based on 

untenable grounds or contrary to law is an abuse of discretion. Id. 

A trial court has the authority to order a defendant whose sentence includes a term of 

community custody to "undergo a mental status evaluation . . .  if the court finds that reasonable 

grounds exist to believe that the offender is a mentally ill person as defined in RCW 71 .24.025, 

and that this condition is likely to have influenced the offense." RCW 9.94B.080. 
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In State v. Brooks, the court held that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering a 

mental health evaluation and treatment without finding that the defendant was mentally ill and 

that the condition likely influenced the offense. 142 Wn. App. 842, 85 1-52, 176 P.3d 549 (2008). 

Similarly, in State v. Shelton, the court held that the trial court abused its discretion by 

ordering a mental health evaluation without making the necessary statutory findings under 

former RCW 9.94B.080 (2008). 194 Wn. App. 660, 675-76, 378 P.3d 230 (2016). The court 

reasoned that the plain language of the statute mandated that a "court may order a mental health 

evaluation only if the court finds [the defendant] 'is a mentally ill person as defined in RCW 

71 .24.025. "' Id. at 675. And despite the fact that the "court found 'mental health issues 

contributed to this offense' and 'treatment is reasonably related to the circumstances of this 

crime and reasonably necessary to benefit the defendant and the community,"' such findings did 

not satisfy the requirements of former RCW 9.94B.080. Id. at 676 (quoting former RCW 

9.94B.080 (2008)). The court remanded for the trial court to determine whether to order an 

evaluation based on the requirements RCW 9.94B.080. Id. 

Here, the trial court had the statutory authority to impose a mental health evaluation 

under RCW 9.94B.080. But the court abused its discretion by doing so without finding Payne 

mentally ill as defined in RCW 71 .24.025 and that the condition is likely to have influenced the 

offense. Brooks, Shelton, and the language of the statute make clear that the court could order a 

mental health evaluation only if the court found that Payne is a "mentally ill person" as defined 

in RCW 71 .21 .025 and that the condition is likely to have influenced the offense. The court did 

not make any such findings. 
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Accordingly, we reverse the trial court's imposition of a mental health evaluation 

condition and remand for the trial court to determine whether to order a mental health evaluation 

consistent with the requirements in RCW 9.94B.080. 

B. Community Custody Supervision Fees 

Payne also argues that the trial court erred by imposing community custody supervision 

fees despite finding Payne indigent. The State agrees that the supervision fees should be stricken, 

and we accept the State's concession. 

Former RCW 9.94A.703(2)(d) (2018) provided, "Unless waived by the court, as part of 

any term of community custody, the court shall order an offender to . . .  [p Jay supervision fees as 

determined by the [Department of Corrections]." Recently, the legislature amended the statute. 

See Second Substitute H.B. 18 18, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2022). The amendment deletes 

the subsection from the statute. This amendment applies to cases pending on appeal. State v. 

Wemhoff, 24 Wn. App. 2d 198, 202, 5 19  P.3d 297 (2022). Accordingly, the trial court must strike 

the community custody supervision fees from the felony judgement and sentence at resentencing. 

Similarly, the trial court erroneously imposed community supervision fees in Payne's 

misdemeanor judgment and sentence. The misdemeanor judgment and sentence further ordered 

Payne to pay the collection costs of unpaid legal financial obligations . RCW 36. 18 . 190; On that 

judgment and sentence, the trial court appears to have made a scrivener's error, finding Payne 

not indigent. Upon resentencing, the trial court should correct its scrivener's error and strike the 

community supervision fees and collection costs from Payne's misdemeanor judgment and 

sentence. 
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C. Crime Victim Penalty Assessment 

In a supplemental brief, Payne also argues that we should remand for the trial court to 

strike the $500 crime VPA and $100 DNA fee. We agree. 

RCW 7.68.035 was recently amended in Engrossed Substitute House Bill 1 169. ESHB 

1 169 added a subsection to RCW 7.68.035 that prohibits courts from imposing the VPA on 

indigent defendants as defined in RCW 10.01 . 160(3). LAWS OF 2023, ch. 449, § l ;  RCW 

7.68.035(4). Additionally, the legislature amended RCW 43.43.7541, eliminating the provision 

providing for a DNA collection fee. LAWS OF 2023, ch. 449, § 4. Although these amendments 

did not take effect until after Payne's sentencing, they apply to his case because this matter is on 

direct appeal. State v. Ellis, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1, 530 P.3d 1048 (2023). Because the trial court 

found Payne indigent, the court must strike the crime VPA and DNA collection fee at 

resentencing. 

VI. PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION 

Payne filed a motion to dismiss and vacate judgment in the superior court, which the 

superior court transferred to this court under CrR 7. 8 for consideration as personal restraint 

petition (PRP). Payne raises three issues, none of which have merit. Accordingly, we dismiss his 

petition. 

Collateral relief from a conviction is an extraordinary remedy that seeks to disturb a final 

judgment; therefore, a personal restraint petitioner must meet a high standard to obtain relief. In 

re Pers. Restraint of Kennedy, 200 Wn.2d 1 ,  12, 5 13  P.3d 769 (2022). When claiming relief on 

the basis of trial court error, the personal restraint petitioner in most cases must demonstrate that 

they were actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of constitutional error or that the trial 
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suffered from a fundamental defect of a nonconstitutional nature that inherently resulted in a 

complete miscarriage of justice. In re Pers. Restraint of Swagerty, 1 86 Wn.2d 80 1 ,  807, 3 83 P .3d 

454 (20 1 6) .  The petitioner must make this showing by a preponderance of the evidence.  In re 

Pers. Restraint of Yates, 1 77 Wn.2d 1 ,  1 7, 296 P .3d 872 (20 1 3) .  A showing of actual and 

substantial prejudice requires that there be an error of substance, not merely of procedure. State 

v. Buckman, l 90 Wn.2d 5 1 ,  68 ,  409 P . 3d 1 93 (20 1 8) .  

Payne argues that he is entitled to relief because the State violated rulings in limine to not 

speak objections in front of the jury. The State moved in limine to exclude "speaking objections" 

in front of the jury. CP at 1 1 7 .  "Speaking objections" are obj ections in which an attorney uses 

more than the minimum verbiage necessary to identify the grounds for the objection and/or an 

attorney gives any comment on the evidence. CP at 1 1 7 .  Payne contends that the State violated 

its own motion in limine but fails to identify with any specificity any examples of such 

violations . Moreover, it does not appear that Payne objected to any allegedly improper 

objections, thereby waiving any claim of error. 

Payne also argues that photos and videos were withheld from him in violation of Brady.4 

But Payne does not identify what photos or videos he takes issue with, nor does he identify how 

he was prejudiced by the alleged error. A petitioner must state with particularity facts that, if 

proven would entitle him to relief. In re Pers. Restraint of Rice, 1 1 8 Wn.2d 876, 886,  828 P .2d 

1 086 ( 1 992) . He must at least identify the existence of material evidence and where it can be 

4 Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S .  83 ,  83 S. Ct. 1 1 94, 1 0  L. Ed. 2d 2 1 5  ( 1 963) .  
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found. In re Pers. Restraint of Ruiz-Sanabria, 184 Wn.2d 632, 641, 362 P.3d 758 (2015). Payne 

fails to show he is entitled to relief. 

Finally, Payne contends that the mother of one of the victims told a member of the jury 

pool, who was not ultimately selected as a member of the jury for trial, "they did this to sue." 

PRP at 1 .  But Payne fails to support his claim with any evidence. When a petitioner's allegations 

are based on matters outside the existing record, the petitioner must demonstrate that they have 

competent, admissible evidence supporting the allegations. Yates, 177 Wn.2d at 18 .  lfthe 

evidence is based on knowledge in the possession of others, the petitioner must present their 

affidavits, with admissible statements, or other corroborative evidence. Id. Payne does not 

support his claim with any affidavits from either the victim's mother or the jury pool participant. 

As a result, his argument is insufficient. 

CONCLUSION 

In conclusion, we hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing Payne's 

second trial counsel to withdraw, any error violating Payne's right to access counsel was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and Payne's waiver of his right to counsel was unequivocal, 

knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. We further hold that the trial court erred by imposing a 

SAPO protecting BA and by imposing a SAPO protecting BK for a duration that exceeded the 

trial court's statutory authority. We also hold that the trial court erred by ordering Payne undergo 

a mental health evaluation without first finding him to be a mentally ill person under RCW 

71 .24.025 and that this condition is likely to have influenced the offense, and by imposing 

supervision and collection fees and a VP A. Finally, we hold that Payne fails to show that he is 

entitled to collateral relief in his PRP. 
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Accordingly, we affirm Payne' s  convictions, remand to the trial court to correct Payne ' s  

judgment and sentence in accordance with this opinion, and dismiss Payne ' s  personal restraint 

petition. 

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

We concur: 

-�-J . __ Maxa, J. 
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